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ABSTRACT

General O’Duffy’s National Corporate Party/Greenshirt movement was Ireland’s
largest fascist movement. This thesis explores the origins of Irish fascism, arguing
that 1t was not simply an imitation of continental models, but that it had its roots in the
[rish historical and political tradition.

Previously dismissed by historians as ephemeral or even non-existent, research
reveals that 1t was a nationally organized party that presented a raft of policies aimed
at creating a mass base. The Greenshirts were a small movement and constituted a
concentration of fascist tendencies developed by an element in its much larger
forerunner, the Blueshirts. The party was to be short-lived but influenced a number of
fifth-column and extremist organizations during the war years, as well as the more
successful post-war nationalist party, Ailtin na hAiseinghe.

The NCP blended a number of key 1deas borrowed from continental fascism,
including corporatism and the leadership principle, with a combination of fascist and
indigenous pseudo-mulitary style and organization. This was embedded in a political
and cultural mould that was a development of romantic ideas that had been widely
promoted during the struggle for Irish independence, with a particular focus on
nationalism, violence and anti-rationalism.

The Greenshirt movement was completely dependent on its leader General O’Duffy,
an experienced and able politician, who promoted his movement both at home and
abroad at a number of international fascist conferences. He looked to participation
alongside Franco in the Spanish Civil War to raise his domestic and international
profile. However, the poor record of his Irish Brigade and his absence from Ireland’s

political scene, led to the rapid demise of a movement which had been in decline since
its inception, and which had failed to gain widespread support amongst the population
or interest in the national press.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Ailtiri na hAiseirighe Right-wing, corporatist political party.
Ard Fheis Annual Conference of political party
Blueshirts Collective name for right-wing uniformed political force

Cumann Poblachta na hEireann Political party formed by moderates in IRA.
Cumann na nGaedheal Pro-Treaty political party forming first IFS government

Dail Eireann The Insh Parliament

Eire Ireland

Fenians A revolutionary nationalist movement originating in the
USA that helped launch the home-rule movement.

Fianna Fail De Valera’s anti-Treaty political party.

Fine Gael Pro-Treaty, conservative coalition.

Gaelic Celtic language spoken by minority in Ireland.

G.A.A. Gaelic Athletic Association founded in 1884 as a
nationalist body aiming to promote Irish games.

Gaeltacht Irish-speaking enclaves in the IFS.

Garda Siochana Civic Police-unarmed police force.

Irish Free State Dominion created by treaty with Great Britain.

LR.A. Anti-Treaty para-military organization.

LR.B. Pre-independence, secretive nationalist group. Irish
Republican Brotherhood.

Leinster House Seat of Irish Government.

Saor Eire Left-wing political party formed by members of LR.A.

Seanad Eireann Upper house of Irish Parliament.

Sinn Fein Political wing of independence movement.

Stormont Seat of Northern Ireland’s Parliament.

Taoiseach Prime-Minister.

T.D. Teachtai Daila, Member of Parliament.

Ulster Volunteer Force

Volunteers

Para-military force organized in 1913 to coordinate the
activities of anti-home rule unionists.
Para-military force that fought for independence.



INTRODUCTION

General Eoin O’Duffy had been a key figure in the Irish Free State for nearly twenty
years when he founded the National Corporate Party in June 1935 after losing control
of the Blueshirts in an acrimonious dispute the previous year. The NCP was
O’Duffy’s personal creation and its policies reflected his political vision that was
largely borrowed from the examples of continental fascism. At the centre of
O’Duffy’s programme was a commitment to replacing the liberal democratic
parliamentary system inherited from the British with a corporate political structure
which would end the divisiveness of post-Civil War party politics but which would
also give O’Duffy personal power and authority. O’Duffy stated that he intended to
create the republic that had inspired the nationalists of the independence struggle but
within an authoritarian framework that owed much to fascist ideas from the continent.
The Greenshirts, as the NCP was popularly known, were a fascist force, encapsulating
those fascist ideas that had been nurtured by a small minority during the Blueshirt
years. However, O’Duffy’s main motivation was his own self-interest and self-
promotion though, lacking personal charisma, O’Duffy had no chance of emulating
Hitler and Mussolini in inspiring a mass following.

O’Duffy revived, reinvented and promoted nationalist and republican 1deas in the
nineteen-thirties, believing that a fascist state was the best way of realizing the united
[reland that he, like many others, had fought for after the 1916 Rising. I will argue
that O’Duffy attempted to root his radical policies in Irish political culture. He had to
legitimise his movement given the nature of post Civil-War Irish politics. Historians
have failed to analyse the potential for fascism in Ireland prior to O’Duffy. 1 will
argue that the ideas which were synthesized after World War One to form fascist

movements throughout Europe were in evidence amongst the visionaries and leaders



of the Irish independence struggle and O’Duffy was able to twist these ideas, as other

fascist leaders had done, to his own ends. However, these ideas were only one small
aspect of the forces driving the nationalist struggle and they did not develop into an
Irish form of fascism after independence. The ideas of regeneration, the embodiment
of the National Will, a physical force tradition and hostility to the ideals of liberal
parliamentary democracy coupled with a vehement hatred of the English had all been
promoted by Irish nationalists. Fifteen years on, O’Duffy revived and used these
ideas, placing them in a new setting inspired by the pan-European shirted movement
of the thirties to create an Irish variant of fascism.

Following his dismissal as Chief of Police by Eamon De Valera, in 1933, O’Duily
took over the leadership of the Army Comrades Association (The Blueshirts). He
renamed the ACA as ‘The National Guard’ in order to broaden its appeal and
membership. Ex-servicemen from the Free State Army had created the ACA in
February 1932, under the leadership of Austin Brennan, as a non-political benevolent
organization that aimed to look after the interests of its members, particularly those in
need. Over the next five years, the organization assumed a number of different names
and guises. It evolved into a movement to defend free speech, following the
intimidation of politicians by the IRA, and ultimately into a political party, the NCP,
advocating corporatist and fascist policies.

In the months preceding the creation of the NCP, O’Duffy became actively involved

in the international fascist scene. This had a decisive influence on the direction in

which he was to lead his new party. Always a staunch nationalist and advocate of

[rish unity, O’Duffy committed his party to a policy of ‘palingenetic ultra-



nationalism®' based on a cynical use of Irish nationalist mythology and a
commitment to strong government coupled with a marked hostility to liberalism,
parliamentarianism and communism. O’Duffy was an excellent organizer, and spent
the months before the launch of the party trying to lay the foundations for a radical
assault on the Irish political system. It was to be a frustrating period.

Whilst the party failed to have any lasting impact on Irish politics, its significance
for the historian lies in the eclectic source of the ideas for its political programme.
Some of these ideas came from continental models, such as Mussolint’s [taly and
Salazar’s Portugal. Other ideas, however, were a continuation and development of
the ultra-nationalist, anti-democratic tradition strand of the independence movement.
The myth of an independent Gaelic utopia that had been developed by the Irtsh
cultural elite at the turn of the century was used by O’Duffy in an attempt to
legitimise his movement, which was in reality heavily dependent on foreign political
models such as Mussolini’s Italy.

The corporatist ideas that were central to the political package ofiered by the NCP
were derived initially from the writings of Irish academics such as James Hogan and
Michael Tierney, who advocated a form of corporatism inspired by Catholic social
encyclicals. Corporatism was adopted for a time as party policy by Fine Gael under
O’Dufty. Ernest Blythe took these ideas a stage further and it was this authoritarian
corporatism that O’Duffy promoted in the NCP. O’Dutly had nothing but praise for
Mussolint’s corporate state but I will also show that corporatist ideas had been
advocated by nationalists like Griffith and discussed by Sinn Fein.

Academics and historians have begun to show more interest in the period,

particularly as the Irish Government has released a number of key files on the period

' A term used by Roger Griffin in The Nature of Fascism (London, 1991), passim. The use of this
definition in locating O’Duffy’s movement in the fascist camp is examined in chapter six of this thesis.
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that provide new insight into the Blueshirts and other right-wing movements of the

era. The Blueshirts have been the subject of two major books, Maurice Manning’s

The Blueshirts’ and Mike Cronin’s The Blueshirts and Irish Politics.” A number of

essays and articles have also appeared in print. The Blueshirt movement has also been

the subject of at least two post-graduate theses.* However, none of these historians
has given serious consideration to the National Corporate Party.
The only exception to this trend has been research done by Fearghal McGarry as

part of a larger study on the influence of the Spanish Civil War on Irish politics in the
nineteen-thirties.” McGarry devotes a sub-chapter to a brief overview of the NCP that
sets the scene for the creation of O’Duffy’s pro-Franco Irish Brigade.? Maurice

Manning’s The Blueshirts was the first published analysis of the Blueshirt movement.
It is largely a chronological study, though the book concludes with two short chapters

that attempt to analyse the political ideas of the Blueshirts and to assess to what extent
the movement was fascist. Manning concludes that the Blueshirts were essentially a
product of the Irish Civil War, and that those elements of fascism that did begin to
emerge were quickly quashed when the movement was absorbed into Fine Gael in
1933. However, Manning goes on to admit that:

“...there were some, and especially O’Duffy, who did see the movement in an

s 997

international context, and would have been pleased to use the term “fascist’.

This faction was in a minority. The result, says Manning, is that “the movement had

some of the appearance but little of the substance of fascism.”®

*M. Manning, The Blueshirts (Dublin, 1971).

> M. Cronin, The Blueshirts and Irish Politics (Dublin, 1997).

*J.A.C. Ebent, , Irish Politics 1932-35. A Study of an Irish Political Movement (The Blueshirts), PhD.
Thesis, Ball State University, New York, 1972.

J. Heatley, The Blueshirt Movement. MSc. Thesis. Queen’s University, Belfast, 1987.

> F. McGarry, Irish Politics and the Spanish Civil War (Cork, 1999).

® The Irish Brigade was a volunteer militia, recruited by O’Duffy, which fought on the Nationalist side
during the early years of the Spanish Civil War.

"M. Manning, The Blueshirts p.243.

10
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Manning gives very little space to discussing the NCP. He states that enthusiasm for
the new party was half-hearted from the start:

“Indeed, the tiredness and lethargy which surrounded its inception and the absence
of any manifest enthusiasm for the inaugural meeting were to be characteristic of its
future fortunes...No attempts were made to organize branches on a nationwide basis;
no attempts were made to hold meetings throughout the country; nor were there any
attempts at publicity-seeking.””

My research will show that O’Duffy initially expended as much energy on this
venture as on any other of his many projects, with the result that a party with a small
but active core membership of extremists was in existence by the summer of 1933. In
spite of his effort I am in agreement with other historians that O’Dufly’s movement
failed to have any lasting impact and quickly went into rapid decline over the year of
its active life.

Manning does, however, make it clear that the foundation of the NCP was a move
in a more openly fascist direction:

“He saw the Blueshirts as part of a world-wide phenomenon and was quick to
identify himself as its leader. He was pleased to call himself as Fascist and
enthusiastically immersed himself in the affairs of international Fascism, supported
Mussolini’s invasion of Abyssinia and fought with Franco in Spain. His Fascism may
have been emotional and instinctive rather than intellectual but he certainly took it
seriously...he saw himself as a Fascist leader of a Fascist movement, and that 1s what

he wanted.”!°

® Ibid. p. 244.
? 1bid. p. 200.
'Y 1bid. pp. 229-230.

11
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Mike Cronin’s The Blueshirts and Irish Politics'' takes a thematic approach to the

subject, looking specifically at leaders and ideology, membership, the economic war
with Britain,'%and the social life of the Blueshirts. He accepts that there were fascists
in the movement and discusses the dichotomy between the politics of some of the

leaders, such as O’Dufty and Emest Blythe, and the motivation of the rank-and-file

membership. He classifies the movement, using Griffin’s definition of fascism," as

potentially para-fascist.'* Cronin describes the Blueshirts as:

“...a movement which skirted around the 1deologies of generic fascism, yet

which had at its core a group committed to a new political order if the Free State

experiment collapsed under the guidance of De Valera.”"

Cronin argues that it was the influence of the rank-and-file that reduced the fascist
potential of the Blueshirt movement. Cronin interviewed a cross-section of former
Blueshirts and discovered that the ordinary Blueshirt member was motivated by the
disastrous effects of government policies on farming, particularly the economic war
with Britain. Cronin is able to demonstrate that there was a distinct split between a
youthful, rural-based rank-and-file membership who were largely concerned with

domestic and economic issue, and a middle-aged, Dublin-based leadership who

tended to look to the continent for ideas to solve Ireland’s problems.'®

Like Manning, Cronin is dismissive of the NCP, but agrees that 1t was “openly

917

fascist”'” and that by 1935, O’Duffy was clearly a fascist.'® He believes that it was

""" M. Cronin, The Blueshirts and Irish Politics (Dublin, 1997).

'2 The economic war between Ireland and Britain was a tit-for-tat raising of tariffs on imports and
exports which followed on from the Free State’s defaulting on half-yearly annuity payments to Britain.
 R. Griffin, The Nature of Fascism (London, 1991), p. 26: “Fascism is a genus of political ideology
whose mythic core in its various permutations is a palingenetic form of populist ultra-nationalism.”

'# Para-fascist movements have much of the trappings, rhetoric and authoritarian nature of fascism but
“will react to genuine fascism as a threat” (Grifiin, R., The Nature of Fascism, p. 122).

'>M. Cronin, The Blueshirts and Irish Politics pp. 62-65.

' Ibid, pp. 127-134.

' Ibid, p. 25.

"® 1bid, p.63.

12
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this overt expression of fascism that precluded most Blueshirts from joining O’Dufty
after the split from Fine Gael. Cronin cites a membership figure of only eighty for the
NCP, without acknowledging a source. My analysis of Blueshirt material in the
National Archives will prove that this figure is a serious underestimate of the party’s
strength. However, it is also clear from research statistics that the movement was
never a mass party and that it failed to emulate the success of the Blueshirts.

Fearghal McGarry’s Irish Politics and the Spanish Civil War" gives useful

background information on the events leading up to the creation of O’Dufty’s Irish
Brigade. The author provides a brief introduction to the NCP, following a short
outline of O’Duffy’s earlier involvement with the Blueshirts. In discussing the level
of activity of the NCP, McGarry echoes Manning in concluding that, “O’Duffy made

920

little attempt to establish branches or attract publicity,”” and goes on to state that

O’Dufly’s involvement in the Spanish Civil War was “a response to his marginal
position in Irish politics.”*' He blames the failure of the NCP on O’Duffy’s declining
leadership skills* and the lack of support for fascism in Ireland.®

Robert Stradling’s The Irish and the Spanish Civil War, 1936-1939 ** gives little
information about the NCP before the outbreak of the Spanish conflict, but he argues
that the party played a key role in recruiting, and maintaining support for, O’Duffy’s
Irish Brigade. Stradling describes General O’Duffy as “...the main founder of the

Insh fascist movement, the Blueshirts, which in 1933-34 mushroomed into what was

—in relative terms- the largest non-governing fascist organization in the world.”®

F. McGarry, lrish Politics and the Spanish Civil War (Cork, 1999).

20 1123
[bid, p. 23.

2! 1bid, p. 26.

*2 Ibid, p. 43.

3 Ibid, p.35.

z‘; R. Stradling, The Irish and the Spanish Civil War 1936-1939 (Manchester, 1999).
[bid, p. 1.

13
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Several historians have analysed the Blueshirt and Greenshirt movements either in
the context of inter-war Irish political history, or as a manifestation of fascism, but
most have been over-reliant on Manning’s book as their main source of information.
Roger Griffin’s The Nature of Fascism, *® describes the NCP as “an out-and-out
fascist movement that was not even worth outlawing.”*’ In the simplistic An
Intelligent Person’s Guide to Fascism,”® Richard Griffith concludes that the

Greenshirts were a form of “Catholic fascism, akin to the Portuguese model.”” Bew,

30

Hazelkorn and Patterson in The Dynamics of Irish Politics,” conclude that:

“O’Duffy personally was a Fascist, albeit one capable of striking a very traditional,

rural conservative note that was almost bucolic in its simplicity.”"

Richard E. Finnegan, in his essay The Blueshirts of Ireland During the 1930s;
Fascism Inverted,* describes the Blueshirts as “a peculiar variant in Ireland of
continental fascism.” He clarifies this by stating that:

“...the Blueshirts are fascist enough to warrant attention in terms of generic fascism
but constitute in their creation, their maintenance, and their decay, an organization
derived from the particular conditions of the Irish Civil War and as a reaction against

the revived IRA’s association with the governing party of Ireland.”™*
Finnegan analyses the different phases of the movement and in describing its final

manifestation, the NCP, he notes O’Duffy’s commitment to the international fascist

scene. He erroneously concludes that:

** R. Griffin, The Nature of Fascism (London, 1991).
7 Ibid, p. 121.

28 Griffith, R., An Intelligent Person’s Guide to Fascism (London, 2000)
? 1bid. p.121.

2‘: P. Bew, E.Hazelkorn and H.Patterson, The Dynamics of Irish Politics (London, 1989).
ibid.

*’R.B. Finnegan , ‘The Blueshirts of Ireland During the 1930s; Fascism Inverted,’ in Eire-Ireland xxiv;
2 (Summer, 1989),
*3 Ibid, p. 78.

* 1bid, p. 79.

14
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“No organization was created. No meetings, no publicity and no votes. It was a

still-born endeavour.”’

In the last decade, a large amount of material has become available following the
release of previously closed government files in the National Archives,
Dublin.’However, the historian is at a distinct disadvantage due to the lack of an
NCP archive of primary source material. Until recently, the historian researching the
NCP had to rely heavily on Manning’s pioneering study. With the release of
Department of Justice files on O’Duffy and the Blueshirts, the historian has a new
source of material with which to correct many of the misconceptions that have led to
the view that the Greenshirts/NCP was a movement with little or no substance. This
thesis uses evidence that had been previously unavailable to the historian, in order to
present the first systematic study of theNCP, the source of its corporatist tdeas, and its
ideological links to earlier Irish political ideas. Whilst agreeing with historians such as
Cronin and McGarry tﬁat the movement was a short-lived, marginal phenomenon in
Irish politics,qthis thesis will argue that it was not a paper exercise of O’Duffy’s but a
serious, albeit unsuccessful attempt, to introduce fascism onto the Irish political scene.

During the war years, a number of small groups emerged with a blatantly fascist
outlook, such as the Irish Friends of Germany and Ailtiri na hAiseirighe (Architects of
Resurrection). The chapter on these groups will demonstrate the continued influence
of leading Blueshirts/ Greenshirts, the overlap in membership, the common policy
strands, and particularly the continued influence of corporatist ideas on the political
right. The overtly pro-Axis inclination of these movements and their advocacy of

fascist policies are evidence of a distinct fascist strand in Irish politics. Whilst

* 1bid, p. 79.

*® Much of the new material on the Blueshirts is to be found in the Justice 8 Series of files, Department
of Justice, in the National Archives of Ireland, Dublin.

15
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acknowledging a debt to continental ideas, however, they continued to claim to be

rooted in the Irish political experience.

My analysis of the NCP, its history, organization and successors, will demonstrate
that a particular form of Irish fascism did arise in Ireland in the thirties and that 1t had
its roots in the independence struggle. O’Duffy hijacked the myths of Gaelic
nationalism, combined them with Catholic social theory and added the trappings of
continental fascism in an attempt to produce a distinct political programme. The party
was rightly regarded by many as an irrelevancy and a foreign import. O’Duffy knew
that to have any chance of success he would have to give his fascism a distinct Irish
angle by adding the myths of Irish republicanism, thereby hoping to give his

movement the legitimacy it needed if it was to be successful in the polarised

nationalist climate of Free State politics.

16
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CHAPTER ONE: BUILDING A FASCIST MOVEMENT

THE LIFE AND TIMES OF GENERAL EOIN O’DUFFY

Eoin O’Duffy was born in County Monaghan, in the Irish province of Ulster, in

1890, the son of a farmer.' As an adult, he found employment an assistant surveyor.

He was not involved in the Easter Rising of 1916 but he joined the Irish Volunteers®in

1917. He was also a member of the Irish Republican Brotherhood® and became a
member of the Supreme Council of that organization.* He was actively involved in the
independence struggle in Ulster and, in 1921, he became Director of Organization of
the Irish Republican Army®> GHQ staff. He was Deputy Chief of Staff of the IRA at
the time of the Anglo-Irish Treaty (1921) that set up the Irish Free State. He was

elected TD (Member of the Dail®) for Monaghan in the second Dail. ’ Ernest Blythe,
later his colleague in the Blueshirts, was elected to the same multi-member
constituency. O’Duffy supported the Treaty settlement and he became closely
associated with Michael Collins.” During the Irish Civil War, O’Duffy was General of
South-Western Command for the pro-Treaty government forces. During the war, 1n
September 1922, the Irish Government appointed him as Commissioner of Police
(Garda Siochana), and for a short while, at the time of the 1924 army mutiny, he was

appointed as head of the army.” He was Commissioner of Police during the whole

'F. McGarry, Irish Politics and the Spanish Civil War (Cork, 1999), p. 18.

? The Irish Volunteers was a militia founded in 1913 to support Home Rule for Ireland. The Volunteers
split over the issue of recruitment for the British army. The more radical minority was involved in the
1916 Rising.

* The IRB was a revolutionary, nationalist organization, the Supreme Council of which organized the
1916 Rising.

*F. McGarry, Irish Politics and the Spanish Civil War p. 18.

> The IRA was the successor to the Volunteers and Army of the Republic.

® Dail Eireann, the Irish Parliament.

"F. McGarry, Irish Politics and the Spanish Civil War ,p. 18.

® M. Cronin, The Blueshirts and Irish Politics p. 74. Michael Collins had played a major part in the

Anglo-Irish War, had signed the Treaty and became Minister of Finance in the new government. He
was shot by anti-Treaty forces during the Irish Civil War.
? F. McGarry, Irish Politics and the Spanish Civil War p. 19.

17
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period of the Cosgrave'® administration, but De Valera’s Fianna Fail government

dismissed him after its second election victory in 1933."

O’Duffy was an excellent organizer and was largely responsible for creating an
effective, unarmed police force in the Irish Free State.'* Members of the Garda
Siochana held him in great affection for his tireless promotion of their weltare during
his time as Commissioner."> He provided cultural and sporting activities for the
Gardai through an organization called the Costa Siamsa. He was later to provide for a

similar range of social activities as the leader of the Blueshirts.'* He realized the
importance of a programme of events as a means of recruiting young people to the

movement, particularly in rural areas where there was little entertainment.

O’Duffy had been prominent in the National Athletic and Cycling Association' and
had managed the Irish team as Chef d’equipe at the 1932 Los Angeles Olympic
Games.'® He was also prominent in the Gaelic Athletic Association.!” O’Duffy was
responsible for much of the organization surrounding the international Eucharistic
Congress of 1932 that took place in Dublin. The event attracted huge numbers of

people, including cardinals and political dignitaries from around the world."®

De Valera’s dismissal of O’Duffy was a result of political pressure from within
Fianna Fail and also from the IRA. De Valera needed a man whom he could trust at a

time of potential social and political unrest caused by the transfer of power to the

' William Cosgrave became President of the Executive Council of the Free State in 1922, and his
Cumann na nGaedheal party held power until 1932,

"' Oxford Companion to Irish History, Ed. S.J.Connolly (Oxford, 1998), p. 405.

' F. McGarry, Irish Politics and the Spanish Civil War p. 19.

Y'G. Allen, The Garda Siochana (Dublin, 1999). Chapter 6 is an overview of O’Dutly’s role in the
creation of a modern Irish police force.

'* M. Cronin, The Blueshirts and Irish Politics Chapter 7, ‘Politics as Pastime,” pp. 168-192.

> O’Duffy left the sum of one hundred pounds to the NACA to purchase a silver challenge sup to be
known as ‘The General O’Duffy Perpetual Challenge Cup,’ to be competed for in an event at the
discretion of the Association. General O’Duffy’s Last Will and Testament, NAL.

' M. Manning, The Blueshirts p. 67.

'" The GAA was founded in 1884 by Michael Cusack to promote Irish sports such as hurling and
Gaelic football. It was closely connected to the nationalist movement.

'* The Roman Catholic Church organized the Eucharistic Congress in order to promote devotion to the
Blessed Sacrament. Over one million people attended a special Mass in Dublin’s Phoenix Park.
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outgoing government’s Civil War enemies. Opposition parties, namely Cumann na
nGaedheal and the National Centre Party, and some of the Irish press (particularly the
Irish Times), spoke out against O’Dufly’s dismissal, and Cumann na nGaedheal
politicians such as Cosgrave painted him as a political martyr.'” In reality, in the run-
up to the 1932 General Election, the Cumann na nGaedheal administration had

already begun to discuss his replacement as he had, as Ernest Blythe put it some years

later, “...gradually become too arbitrary and obstinate.”° One proposal of Cosgrave’s

had been to send him as Ireland’s ambassador to Washington.”'

Otficers of the ACA, including Tierney and Blythe, approached O’Duffy on his
return from holiday in May 1933 with the intention of offering him the leadership of
the organization.”At a special ACA convention in Dublin on July 20", O’Duffy was
elected as the new leader of the movement. He used the rest of the conference to

initiate the major changes that would transform the organization into a major shirted

movement with its own political agenda.

IRELAND IN THE THIRTIES: THE EMERGENCE OF THE BLUESHIRTS

As leader of the Blueshirts, O’Duffy headed a movement whose political
programme he developed and made his own. O’Duffy had a vision of a corporate,
authoritanan republic led by himself which he hoped would come to fruition through
the efforts of the Blueshirts and Fine Gael. However, he was to find out that the

movement he had co-opted was unwilling to follow him down his increasingly fascist

path. O’Duffy saw the emergence of the Blueshirts as a response to crisis which

" M. Manning, The Blueshirts p. 69.

2{: See Ernest Blythe writing in The Irish Times, 2 November 1970.
> G. Allen, The Garda Siochana p. 105.

2 M. Manning, The Blueshirts pp. 69-71.
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threatened the political or economic ruin of Ireland. He even argued that a possible

revolution might end in a communist seizure of power. The following sub-chapter
puts the appearance of Ireland’s shirted movement in the context of a small nation
emerging from a bitter war of independence and a bloody civil war. The animosities
engendered by these military struggles continued to be a deciding factor in politics.

The Blueshirts were a response to the crisis of politics and economics in nineteen-
thirties Ireland. During the twenties, a decade of comparative stability after the
disruption of the War of Independence and the Irish Civil War, the foundations of a
liberal-democratic constitutional state were laid down by Cumann na nGaedheal, a
conservative political party that emerged from the pro-Treaty faction of Sinn Fein.
Irish political life continued to be polarized by the Treaty issue. The defeat of
Cumann na nGaedheal in 1932 after ten years in office, and the elevation to power of
Eamon De Valera and his anti-Treaty, republican Fianna Fail party, threatened to
challenge the stability of the infant Irish Free State. The Thirties also saw the re-
emergence of the IRA as a major, now legalized, para-military force. The Blueshirts
appeared on the scene at the same time. Civil War animosities, never very deeply
buried, flared again, and a climate of mistrust, increased lawlessness and political
violence threatened the stability of the infant democracy. An economic slump,
exacerbated by Fianna Fail’s tariff war with Britain, fuelled the disputes between left
and right, government and opposition, the IRA and the Blueshirts. It led some to

question the continued existence of a political structure which seemed to

institutionalise Ireland’s continued dependence on Britain, and to seek a radical

solution for its replacement.

A reinvigorated IRA, legalized and tolerated by an acquiescent Fianna Fail

government, gave rise to a fear of a revival of Civil War animosities. This fuelled the
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rapid growth of the Army Comrades Association in 1932-33. The ACA had originally
been formed to support ex-servicemen of the Free State Army. These same men now
saw their erstwhile Civil War enemies in power. The ACA rapidly broadened its
appeal and became associated with Cumann na nGaedheal, whose candidates it had
defended from hecklers during the 1932 and 1933 election campaigns,23 thereby
demonstrating their commitment to the right to free speech.”* The IRA had become
increasingly violent towards politicians who they believed had betrayed the Irish

Republic. The outgoing Cumann na nGaedheal government had been formed from the

pro-Treaty faction in the second Dail and to the doctrinaire republicans of the IRA

they were regarded as traitors.”

Under the leadership of O’Duffy, the Blueshirts began to take on a political
complexion of their own. Renamed as the National Guard on the 20" July 1933, the
movement initially sought a position in politics independent of Cumann na
nGaedheal. Under O’Duffy, the Blueshirts adopted policies supporting tl;e creation of
a corporate state, the reunification of Ireland and the promotion of law and order
(important in a state where memories of civil war were still fresh, and where an armed
terrorist organization, the IRA, was still very active). They also took a firm stance
against communism and strongly opposed the government’s policies on land annuities
and the conduct of the economic war with Great Britain.>® The Fianna Fail
government increasingly saw the Blueshirts as a potential threat to democracy, largely

based on impressions of shirted movements abroad, and banned the organization.

** For example, the attack on C na nG candidates by hecklers at Paulstown, Kilkenny as reported in The
Kilkenny People, 8" October 1932.

4 M. Cronin, The Blueshirts and Irish Politics . 20.

> See An Phoblacht, the leading republican newspaper, especially late 1933-¢early 1934, for an analysis
of the Blueshirts from a Republican perspective.

** Land annuities were loan repayments due to the British government for land purchases under the

Land Acts of 1891-1909. By the terms of the Anglo-Irish Treaty, they were to be collected by the Irish
Government and handed over to the British. De Valera continued to collect the annuities but refused to
transfer them to Britain. A tariff war ensued that was disastrous to the Irish economy, and for the
farmers who provided the overwhelming majority of exports.
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However, events were to push the movement into an alliance with Cumann na
nGaedheal and the National Centre Party. O’Duffy had decided to lead thirty
thousand Blueshirts in a march to Leinster House, the seat of Dail Eireann, in honour
of Michael Collins, Arthur Griffith?’ and Kevin O’Higgins.”® The four weeks’ notice
of the march gave the government time to assess the situation. They feared that there a
serious prospect of public disorder, and perhaps even an attempt to emulate
Mussolini’s March on Rome, and so they responded by not only banning the march,

but also the National Guard.”” Re-named the Young Ireland Association, the

Blueshirts were forced by further government repression into an electoral alliance to

form Fine Gael, nicknamed “the cripple alliance™ by Fianna Fail’s Sean Lemass.”

Maurice Manning believes O’Duffy was chosen as President of Fine Gael due to
Centre Party pressure. The party hierarchy was worried that with Cosgrave as leader

the new alliance would be perceived as a mere continuation of Cumann na

nGaedheal.’' It was an electoral alliance that had to unite different factions promoting

. . . . . . . 32 . 33
an eclectic mixture of ideas ranging from traditional conservatism™ to fascism,™ each

vying to see their ideas adopted as official party policy.
THE ECONOMIC CRISIS AND THE BLUESHIRT SPLIT

Post-independence Ireland had a peripheral economy geared to supplying the market

of its former administrator, and closest neighbour, Great Britain. During the years of

27 Arthur Griffith was President of the Dail in 1922 and the founder of Sinn Fein.
*® Kevin O’Higgins was the assassinated Minister of Justice in the Cumann na nGaedheal
administration in the twenties.
*> M. Cronin, The Blueshirts and Irish Politics p.22.
**Sean Lemass was Minister for Industry and Commerce 1932-9.
*! M. Manning, Courage to Succeed ( Dublin, 1983), p.23.
*2 Men like Cosgrave and Dillon, as long-standing members of C na nG and the Centre Party were
%olitical and economic conservatives.

Men like O’Duffy, Blythe and Gunning moved in an increasingly fascist direction as the thirties
progressed.
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British rule, Ireland had become a major supplier of agricultural produce to the British
market. Independence had not fundamentally changed this relationship of economic
subservience and dependency.34 The close links with Britain had led to a
specialization in dairy farming in large parts of the country, particularly in the south,
in order to supply the British market, whilst the west of Ireland was largely involved
in subsistence farming on small-scale holdings.> The Free State was a classic
example of a peripheral economy with few manufacturing industries, a small range of
goods, low living standards and vulnerability to market fluctuations.”® The effects of
the economic war on a nation which was only marginally industrialized and relied on
farming for its main exports were not uniform across the whole country, but mainly
affected those areas that produced for the metropolitan market.”’

The economic war fuelled the growth of the Blueshirt movement, coming as so
soon after the economic privations following on from the Wall Street Crash (1929). It
was a further threat to the livelihood of larger farmers and the surrounding
communities. The Blueshirts opposed the government’s economic policies, which
threatened to damage the very infrastructure of the Irish economy. Fianna Fail geared
its economic policies towards reducing Ireland’s dependence on Britain through a
gradual process that was intended to re-orientate agriculture away from dairy farming
and the export market to a concentration on tillage and subsistence farming.’® Fianna
Fail hoped that by concentrating on the cultivation of wheat, Ireland would be able to
support a larger population, thereby reducing the number of those forced to emigrate
due to economic necessity. Fianna Fail used the implementation of more tariffs on

imported goods to stimulate the creation of an industrial sector catering for the home

:: A.W. Orridge, ‘The Blueshirts and the Economic War’ in Political Studies 31:3 (September, 1983).
Ibid.

*° Ibid.
*” Great Britain was Ireland’s metropolitan market.
*®¥ A.W. Orridge, ‘The Blueshirts and the Economic War.’
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market.>” The argument over economic policy produced a cleavage between those
who sought to loosen ties with Britain, and those who wanted to keep those ties for

economic reasons. The economic war hurt agriculture badly, the price of cattle

halving between 1932 and 1935.*° In turn, it raised questions about sovereignty, land
rights and land use. Irish economic activity had peaked in 1929, and the early Thirties
saw a rapid decrease in output, trade and employment.f’"1

As a major focus of the anti-government campaign, the issue of land annuity
payments and the economic war had led to violence, illegal activity, and increasingly
aggressive speeches from O’Duffy and other Blueshirts such as Ned Cronin and
Major Coughlan. It was O’Duffy’s encouragement of illegal activities, such as the
non-payment of land annuities and the obstruction of the sale of sequestered cattle,
which finally led the Fine Gael executive to seek his resignation as party leader.

Contrary to Fine Gael policy, the annual Blueshirt Convention of 19" August 1934
had passed a resolution calling on farmers to withhold the payment of land annuities
and for labourers to refuse to pay their rates.** O’Duffy’s intemperate speeches were
out of line with the constitutionalism of men like Cosgrave, Dillon and McGilligan.
It was a clear threat to the interests of the pro-metropolitan conservatives of Fine

Gael, and they reacted accordingly. The Executive had failed to control O’Duffy and

they could not risk being associated with the unconstitutional and illegal tactics that
he was advocating. Cumann na nGaedheal had spent ten years in office building up
Ireland’s standing as a democratic nation with a liberal, free-market economy, a

balanced budget and a reputation for financial prudence.

3 In 1931, there were 68 Articles concerning tariffs. By 1936, there were 281. P.J. Neary and C.
O’Grada, ‘Protection, Economic War and Structural Change: The 1930s in Ireland,’ in Irish Historical
Studies, vol. xxvii: 107, (May 1981).
40 1.

Ibid.
*! Ibid.

2 Anonymous editorial, ‘The Irish Free State: the Split in the Opposition,” in Round Table, vol.97
(December 1934).
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After he had left Fine Gael, O’Duffy continued to make inflammatory speeches
such as that in Dublin on 2™ of November 1934; these were described by the Garda

as seditious due to his continued advocacy of the non-payment of annuities.*

O’Duffy also wanted to make the economic war a national, rather than a party
political, issue. He was also advocating an agricultural policy of increased land tillage
and the breaking up of larger farms, coupled with the redistribution of land, hardly
ideas likely appeal to the larger farmers who provided so much of Fine Gael’s
electoral base. Such a policy would mean a stress on subsistence rather than dairy
farming, a policy much closer to that of Fianna Fail than to his colleagues.

Whilst most members of the Blueshirt movement were concerned with domestic
issues such as the payment of land annuities, leases, remuneration for ex-servicemen

and free speech, O’Duffy and a core of influential right-wing academics™’

were trying
to steer the party in a different direction in which continental political ideas, not
domestic issues, were the defining mark. As his speeches became more out of step
with the policies of his Fine Gael colleagues, O’Duffy felt himself pressurized by
members of the Executive into resigning his position as party President. The demands
made by his party colleagues, for example that he submit his speeches 1n advance to
the Executive for approval, made O’Dufty feel that his position was untenable.*’ He

felt unable to comply with the demands of the Executive because he believed that this

would have severely curtailed his freedom to express his ideas publicly.
Another contentious subject was the Ulster situation. O’Dufty was speaking out for
more vigorous action on the North. The Executive of Fine Gael had also objected to

General O’Duffy’s belligerent speeches on the Northern problem and his proposal to

*> Garda Report on Seditious Utterance by O’Duffy on 2" November 1934, at Mansion House, Dublin.
JUS8/70, NAL

* These key thinkers included James Hogan, Professor of History, University College, Cork, and
Michael Tierney, Professor of Greek at University College, Dublin. See Chapter 4.
> P.J. Coughlan, The Truth; The Story of the Blueshirts p.6-8.
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set up Blueshirt branches across the border in Northern Ireland, in defiance of a ban
on the organization by the government of the province.*® O’Duffy had even gone so
far as to advocate military action by the Free State Army against the British
occupation forces in the North, if necessary.*’

Government bans had forced O’Duffy into an uneasy alliance with Cumann na
nGaedheal and the National Centre Party. For a short while, the pressure from his
party colleagues held O’Duffy back from espousing the more radical 1deas that he had
been developing. As President of Fine Gael, O’Dufly had promoted the corporatist
ideas of men like Tierney, Hogan and Blythe. Corporatism, introduced into the
coalition by the Blueshirts, was adopted as official party policy but received only
lukewarm support from the Executive. The corporate policy involved the creation of
intermediate quasi-governmental organizations of workers and employees to make
decisions on issues governing particular industries and occupations. O’Duffy found
this lack of support from the Executive frustrating. His demand for the end of a

twenty-six county parliamentary democracy and its replacement with a thirty-two

county corporate republic clearly put him outside the frame of reference of most of his

conservative colleagues. None of these radical policies of O’Duffy were acceptable to
the traditionalists who dominated the Fine Gael hierarchy. In his defence, after the
split, O’Duffy was to claim that he had been trying to create a populist initiative to
goad apathetic Fine Gael politicians into action.’®> When the Executive failed to
respond to his programme, O’Duffy took his radical domestic agenda and combined it

with a blend of continental-influenced corporatism and ultra-nationalism to form the

policy basis for his new National Corporate Party.

‘® An Phoblacht, *O’Duffy Wants to Wade in Blood,” 25" August 1934.

7 Speech by O’Duffy at Cavan, 29" August 1934, reported in The Anglo-Celt, 1" September 1934
*® Letter from Dillon to MacDermot, 25" September 1934, MacDermot Papers, 1065/2/4, NAL.
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By co-opting the Blueshirts, the conservative Fine Gael alliance had hoped to tame

their radicalism and to use their enthusiasm, youth and numbers to revive their
political fortunes. Fine Gael was able to control the more radical elements for a short
time. It was frustrating for O’Duffy as he came to realize that he wanted to move in a
different direction from his colleagues. Most of the members of the Fine Gael alliance
were unwilling to follow him and neither were most Blueshirts.

The constitutionalists on the Fine Gael Executive were unwilling to countenance
O’Dufty’s behaviour and he felt himself forced into resigning as President of the
party, before he was voted out, on 21% September 1934,* though he denied that in so
doing he had also relinquished the post of Director-General of the League of Youth.””
He had every intention of remaining as Director-General. The result was a split
between his supporters and the section now commanded by Ned Cronin that was still
subsidiary to the Fine Gael party organization. Cronin had been a founder member of
the Army Comrades Association, and he remained an active Blueshirt. He had joined
Fine Gael as one of its Vice-Presidents, one of the three appointed by O’Duffy. In
1933, Cronin had been charged and imprisoned for sedition and had spent three

months in gaol’! and, like O’Duffy, Cronin could be an intemperate speaker; at

Tipperary on 14" July 1934, he had said:

“De Valera has spoken about dictatorship, but I say here tonight if a dictatorship is

necessary for the Irish people we are going to have one.”?

The choice of Cronin to replace O’Duffy seems strange in the light of Cronin’s

background and Fine Gael’s concern about constitutional methods, but Cronin was

popular within the movement. Cronin was not an intellectual and he did not adhere to

*> M. Manning, The Blueshirts, pp. 151-156.

:‘:P.J_ Coughlan, The Truth; The Story of the Blueshirts (Cork, 1935), pp. 4-6.
Ibid. p.116.

>* Cited by the Minister for Justice, Dail Debates, Vol.53. C0l.2566-73, NAI.
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the ideas of the corporatists within the party.”> At this time, the Blueshirts were at the
peak of their popularity and Fine Gael could not risk alienating this element in the
coalition. The Executive of Fine Gael no doubt felt that it would be easier for them to
control Cronin than O’Duffy. They did eventually close down the League of Youth in
1936, not without some opposition from Cronin however. At the time of the split,
many chose to leave rather than take sides, causing irreparable damage to both
factions of the movement.”*

Pushed out of the political mainstream, O’ Duffy was free to advocate those
policies for which his erstwhile colleagues had increasingly censured him, inspired by
his involvement on the international fascist scene. O’Duffy had made the mistake of
assuming that he could mould the Blueshirts into a fascist movement. He had no
intention of repeating the mistake and the National Corporate Party he set up in 1935
was completely under his own personal control. He took with him a small minority of
the League of Youth who supported his views, or who were personally loyal to him.
He left the remaining Blueshirts to a slow demise as Fine Gael gradually wound down

the League of Youth until they disbanded it altogether in late 193 6.

PREPARING THE GROUND

A number of attempts were made during October 1934 by the maverick right-wing
politician, Patrick Belton T.D.,”°to reunite the fractured Blueshirt movement and have

O’Duffy reinstated as the leader. Belton made several efforts to bring Cronin and

> M. Cronin, The Blueshirts ad Irish Politics p.71.

* ¥, McGarry, Irish Politics and the Spanish Civil War p.118.

*>M. Cronin The Blueshirts and Irish Politics p.37.

°® During a long political career, Belton sat in the Dail for Fianna Fail, Cumann na nGaedheal, the

National Centre Party, Fine Gael and as an Independent. He formed the Irish Christian Front to raise
money for the Nationalist side in the Spanish Civil War.,
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O’Duffy together in order to come to some agreement and restore unity. Not only did
he fail to do so, but Belton’s persistence led to his dismissal from Fine Gael following

a motion tabled to the Executive by Dr. T.F. O’Higgins.”’ The next few months saw
verbal and physical confrontations between the two Blueshirt factions.”® O’Duffy
went ahead with the reorganization of his rump Blueshirt following. Few leaders and
officers in the movement had joined him so he began by appointing new officers and
reorganizing branches. On 6" October 1934, he launched a new paper, The Blueshirt,
which began to appear weekly. It was largely written and edited by O’Duffy.””

It did not take O’Duffy very long to start to prepare for his re-entry into electoral
politics. On 18" October 1934, at a Blueshirt convention in Ballytofey, County
Donegal, Patrick Belton announced that a new party, with O’Dutfty as its leader,
would soon be launched. However, Belton warned that a new party could only be
launched once the Blueshirt movement had consolidated its organization, “for any.
new party that may be launched will have to absolutely depend on the Blueshirt
movement.”®’ He reiterated that the new party, which he provisionally named ‘The
National Party,” would be “above everything, a Blueshirt party.”®! Belton hoped to
win over to O’Duffy those Blueshirts who had hitherto remained with Cronin and
Fine Gael. He announced that the party’s main platform would be its corporatist
policy and that an electoral victory at both local and national levels would give the
party the mandate to carry through a radical programme of constitutional change.®

The following month, in Listowel, County Kerry, a convention of western

Blueshirts discussed the formation of a new party to be called 1the National

37 Dr. O’Higgins was the second leader of the ACA in 1932. He was a strong supporter of corporatism.
°® M. Manning, The Blueshirts pp. 170-171.
** Ibid, p. 169.
':: Patrick Belton TD, quoted in ‘The New Party,” in The Blueshirt, 24™ November 1934.
Ibid.
*? Ibid.
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Association.” In contrast to Belton’s earlier statement, those present assumed that
Belton himself would emerge as the leader as he already had a seat in the Dail,*
whereas O’Duffy did not. The pressure to launch a new party seemed to be gaining
momentum as on 14" November, Patrick Belton, speaking at Lifford, County
Donegal, announced:

“We intend to build on the Blueshirt organization a national political party that,

we hope, in a few years will out both Fianna Fail and Fine Gael.”®*

Belton went on to say that overtures had been made to him to set up a new party,

and that he was pleased to be associated in this venture with Mr William R. Kent T.D.

of Cork.%

That same month, a meeting of the county and district staff of the Sligo and Leitrim
Divisions of the League of Youth (O’Duffy Section) passed resolutions calling on
deputies in the Dail who had been elected with Blueshirt votes to stand by O’Duffy,

leave Fine Gael, and help set up the new party. The meeting urged county and local

councillors to do the same.®®

On December 22" 1934, The Blueshirt printed several letter arguing the case for

and against the League of Youth transforming itself into a political party,®’ a possible
move on the part of O’Duffy to encourage debate at branch level. On 4™ December
1934, he had issued letters to all branches of the League of Youth appealing for funds
specifically to launch a new party and to pay for electioneering expenses.®® The sum

he asked for was ten thousand pounds, a considerable amount.®” This financial appeal

Z ‘Mr Belton Likely to be Leader,’ The Irish Press, 20" November 1934.
Ibid.
5> William R. Kent was T.D for West Cork, a stronghold of the Blueshirt movement. He had been a
colleague of Belton’s in the Centre Party.
® ‘Mr Belton Likely to be Leader,” The Irish Press, 20™ November 1934.
®7 The Blueshirt, 22 December 1934, ‘Letters.’

:E. O’Dufly, Letter Appealing For Funds, 4 December 1934, D/Jus8/286, NAL.
Ibid.
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was accompanied by 4 Summary of the Policy of the New Movement.”® It was a very
modest two-page document written by O’Duffy. There were no new policy initiatives
different from those of previous Blueshirt organizations. The main points were: the
need for national unity; an end to the economic war; anti-communism; the
corporatization of economic life and the protection of free speech.

The defence of free speech had been part of the Blueshirt agenda since its inception
as the ACA. In 1932, it had referred to the problem of the IRA who had begun a

concerted campaign to disrupt the electoral speeches of Cumann na nGaedheal
candidates. By 1935, it referred to the moves made by the Fianna Fail government to

control the Blueshirts through legislation such as the bill to ban the wearing of

political uniforms.

Several items 1n the twelve point Summary referred to the awakening of the national
spirit, patriotic self-reliance and the mobilization of youth “in a movement of

9971

constructive national action,”’" an early indication of the direction in which O’Duffy

intended to take his new party. However, it would be another six months before the
party appeared. During this hiatus, O’Dufly channelled his energy into the
international fascist scene through his attendance at several conferences abroad, and it

was this that was to lead to the creation of a new fascist party in Ireland.

O'DUFFY AND INTERNATIONAL FASCISM

O’Dutffy had first shown an interest in Italian Fascism after a visit to Italy and a
meeting with Mussolini during a Garda pilgrimage to Rome in 1929.”° The two

hundred and fifty strong Garda contingent had worn the sky-blue ribbon of the

0 1bid.
" Ibid.
D. Keogh, Ireland and Europe 1919-48 (Dublin, 198R8), pp. 41-42.
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pilgrimage medal, a colour that was to soon represent O’Duffy’s political movement.

The Italian Government showed an interest in O’ Duffy and his Blueshirts from an
early stage. According to Keogh, O’Duffy was described as a fascist by Dino Grandi,

the Italian ambassador to Great Britain.”

During his time as leader of the Blueshirts, O’Duffy had been careful to avoid the
fascist label but by late 1934, with the increasing success of fascism abroad, not least
Hitler’s assumption of power in Germany, he was proud to be associated with

international fascist conferences. It was at this time that O’Duffy made a trip to
Switzerland to attend a conference sponsored by the German Nazis. A year later, in
September 1935, he made a trip to Germany where he was feted by the Nazis. In the
early days of the Irish Free State, the Irish Government attended a range of
international conferences in order to build up its legitimacy as a genuine independent
nation.’* In like manner, O’Duffy seemed to be using the international fascist scene to

appear as a major political figure playing an almost statesman-like role.

Only the month before his resignation from Fine Gael, O’Duffy met with Terje
Ballsrud, a member of the recently banned Norwegian Greyshirts, who was visiting
Dublin.”’Ballsrud had already met with Oswald Mosley, leader of the British Union of
Fascists, in London. The Norwegian fascist made a visit to Leinster House
accompanied by Ernest Blythe, Tom Gunning and Ned Cronin, all leading members
of the Blueshirts and Fine Gael. The meeting with Ballsrud is a further indication of
the direction in which key figures in the movement were heading. Whilst in Dublin,

Ballsrud also met with Lodi Fe who had been appointed by the Italian Government as

cultural attaché to the Irish Free State. Lodi Fe was also in Dublin to promote Italian

"> D. Keogh, Ireland and Europe 1919-48 pp. 41-2
"* G.M. MacMillan, State, Society and Authority in Ireland (Dublin, 1993), p. 202.
"> An Phoblacht, ‘Greyshirt Leader’s Visit,” 18 August 1934,
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fascism and he organized a section of the Italian community into the Fascio Dublino
Michel Angelo with Edward Tomacelli as its secretary.”

It was late in 1934 that O’Duffy made contact with other European corporatists and
fascists in a series of meetings that were covered by the national press and The
Blueshirt. In December 1934, he attended the International Action of Nationalism
Conference in Zurich, which the Nazis had organized. Others in attendance included
Oswald Mosley from Great Britain, General Pouderoux from France and Mr J.F. Hirst
from the USA. The Nazis funded the conference, which was a forum for the

discussion of Nazi ideas, including racist doctrines.”’

The same month, O’Dufly attended the Montreux Conference organized by the
Comitati d’Azione per I’Universalita di Roma (CAUR), and sponsored by Mussolini’s
Government. CAUR had already shown some interest in the Blueshirts. Nicola
Pascazio, representing CAUR, met with O’Duffy in Dublin, where the latter had
confessed to him, in spite of all past and future statements to the contrary, that the
March on Leinster House, which led to the Government ban on the Blueshirts, had
been intended to imitate Mussolini’s March on Rome. He also informed Pascazio that
he was not afraid of being labelled a dictator or a fascist.”® Pascazio also met with
Tom Gunning, O’Dutfy’s secretary. The Italian ambassador in London, Dino Grandi,
believed that by August 1933, Ireland had progressed to the point where an Irish
fascist revolution was inevitable.”” Reporting to Mussolini Count Grandi stated:

“We are witnessing a political movement that has courageously raised the standard

of Fascism, the wish to pursue a revolutionary path. This is beyond all doubt. And this

" D. Keogh, Ireland and Europe 1919-1948 p. 91.
" M. Cronin, The Blueshirts and Irish Politics p. 53.

" Report of Signor Nicola Pascazio’s mission in Ireland, February-March 1934, L 'Imperio Brittanica,
P.14, as quoted in Ledeen, Universal Fascism (1972).

” D. Keogh, Ireland and Europe 1919-48 . 46.



34

is the road that the younger Irish generation wishes to follow in order to achieve a

united nation more quickly.”®

O’Duffy left Dublin for Liverpool in December 1934, mis-informing the Irish Press
that he was going on holiday to Paris.”’ Two days later, under the headline, ‘General
O’Duffy at Secret Fascist Congress,’ the same newspaper detailed the activities of the
Blueshirt leader at Montreux.>* The Irish Press detailed the proceedings, but hinted
that not all was above board about the conference. O’Duffy’s original statement that
he was on his way to Paris for a vacation did not help his case.

Mussolini had set up the Montreux Conference in order to spread the fascist

message and to boost his own prestige in the process. It was essentially a propaganda
exercise. The Italian, Eugenio Coselschi, organized the conference. The conference
admitted those organizations:

“...who have their spirit open to the principles of political, economic and social
renovation, based on the concepts of the hierarchy of the State and the principle of
collaboration between the classes.”®
The conference laid stress on the universal aims of fascism. Whilst respecting the

autonomy of national groups, the conference also accepted Coselschi’s definition of
the universal aspect of fascism:

“...the reconstitution of a State on new bases, of a unified, strong and disciplined
State, the organization of labour, liberties contained within sane and honest limits:

installation of order and justice, agreement between classes; co-ordinated and solid

% Dino Grandi to Mussolini, 30™ August 1933, No.3020/1038 serie politici 1931-45, Irlanda, busta

(box) 2 (1933) tasc. (file) ‘Rapporti Politicit ASMAE’, as cited in Keogh D., /reland and Europe 1919-
48, p.46.

81 Irish Press, 15™ December 1934.
*2 Irish Press, 17" December 1934, ‘O’Duffy at Secret Fascist Congress.
%3 Ottobre 1933, as cited in M.A. Ledeen, Universal Fascism (New York, 1972), p. 116.
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collaboration between producers...And so the ‘supernational’ idea harmonizes

perfectly with the national idea.”**

CAUR would only admit those organizations committed to national revolution, “a
revolution inspired by a true mysticism and an elevated idea founded on

corporativism.”® Clearly for the Italian organizers of the conference, O’Duffy and his

movement satisfied these critena.
O’Duffy informed Irish journalists that the aim of the conference had been to

discuss the corporate system, “as a means of promoting social justice and equality,

+86

and harmony between peoples,”” allowing each national group to share its views

whilst encouraging each to follow its distinctive national path. The Blueshirt
condemned the Irish Press for labelling the conference as both secret and fascist. The
party paper pointed out that of the six sessions of the conference, all but one were

open to the world’s press.®’ On the issue of fascism, the Irish Press recorded that in

his speech to the conference, O’Dufty had said that “the most that we can do at this

meeting is to recognize the general principles of fascism.”*®

O’Duffy was later to say that the term *fascist’ only referred to the corporate state

89

in Italy and that, except for the corporatists in Britain,”” no-one else used this title.”

Speaking at Creggs, County Galway in January 1935, O’Dufly remarked that
Germany had not been represented at the conference at Montreux because Nazi policy
was not compatible with the corporatist system.”’ In fact corporatist ideas were an

important part of only some fascist party programmes, namely those of the fascist

%4 Ibid.
% Ibid.

*" The Blueshirt, 22" December 1934, ‘Corporate System Discussed.’
Ibid.

%8 Irish Press, 17™ December 1934, ¢ General O’Duffy at Secret Fascist Congress.’
* By whom he meant the BUF.

® Irish Press, 29" December 1934, ‘General O’Dufty: His Interview with /! Duce.’
' Irish Press, 7" January 1935, ‘Montreux Conference.’
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parties of Italy, Great Britain, Belgium, France, Norway, the Netherlands and

Ireland.”?

The other groups represented at the conference were the Austrian Heimwehr, the
Belgian Legion National Belge and Ligue Corporative du Travail, the Danish
National Copset and National Socialist Party, the French Francistes, the Greek
National Socialists, the Norwegian Nasjonal Samling, the Dutch Front Noir,
representatives from the Portuguese government of Doctor Salazar, the Romanian
Iron Guard, the Swedish National Union of Youth, the Spanish Falange, the Swiss

Fascist Federation and the Lithuanian Nationalist Party.”

O’Duffy did not wear his Blueshirt uniform at the Congress, and did not explain
why. His speech to the assembled delegates began by briefly outlining the history of
his organization in Ireland. He claimed that the movement had:

“...taken its present shape because it is based on the fundamental Christian
principles of hierarchy as opposed to Socialistic or Communist principles.””*
The Blueshirts, he said, were not a movement rooted in the Irish Civil War, but had
arisen “to prevent the Communists and her allies from terrorizing the civilian

p0pulation."""5'S Nonetheless, he appealed to Britain to give freedom to the whole of

Ireland, without which there never could be lasting peace between the two nations.
The Blueshirts, he continqed, were educating the people of Ireland in the principles of
corporatism. But, he added, and in keeping with one of the themes of the conference,
“that we must always reserve our right to adapt the system to an Irish mould.””°He

cited the example of the corporatist organization of agriculture in Italy, a system

which would not work in Ireland due to the overwhelming number of small farmers.

2 0.E Shudekopf, Revolutions of Our Time.Fascism.(London, 1973) p.144
> M. Cronin, The Blueshirts and Irish Politics p.52.

:: The Blueshirt, 22™ December 1934, ‘Corporate System Discussed.’
Ibid.

% Ibid.
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He concluded his speech with a tribute to Mussolini, particularly for respecting the
rights of religion.”’

The conference unanimously passed a resolution purporting to condemn racial
persecution in all its forms. However, the resolution at the same time denounced
certain groups of Jews “...who installed themselves as if on foreign territory, openly
or occultly [sic] exercising an influence harmful to the material and moral interests of
the nation which shelters them, thus constituting a State within a State, profiting by all

benefits while refusing all duties.””

O’Duffy informed the conference that there was no Jewish problem in Ireland and
that he could “not subscribe to the principles of persecution of any race.”” The
Blueshirt reported that General O’Duffy had “strongly opposed any resolution which
would countenance any hostile action against J ews,” % but his agreement, by
signature, to the above resolution belies this statement. However, anti-Semitism was
not a key feature of all fascisms. Indeed, leaders such as Mussolini, Quisling and
Mussert, with whom O’Duffy had close ideological links only adopted anti-Semitism
at a late date largely in response to German ideological and political pressure.

The Montreux Conference concluded by setting up a committee (to be known as
‘The Secretariat’) to arrange future meetings and act as a co-ordinating committee for
fascist propaganda and communication.'’' The Secretariat, also known as the
Committee of Seven, was made up of the seven members who were to meet on a more

regular basis than the full membership. O’Duffy was selected by the delegates as one

of the Secretariat.

*" This was O’Duffy’s perception of Mussolini’s attitude towards Catholicism. In reality, Mussolini had
little time for religion and his Concordat with the Papacy was a tactical move, not one motivated by
faith.

% Irish Press, 18" December 1934, ‘Fascist Congress and Jews.’

* Irish Press, 29™ December 1934, ‘General O’Duffy: His Interview with I/ Duce.’

' The Blueshirt, 22™ December 1934, ‘Corporate System Discussed.’

'Y M. Ledeen, Universal Fascism p.123.
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At the end of December 1934, after Montreux, O’Duffy went to Rome where he met

with Mussolini and discussed such items as agriculture and the need for a nation’s
population to be physically fit and healthy.'” The Duce invited him to return the
following year. Whilst in Rome, O’Duffy also attended a meeting organized by the
right-wing Catholic organization Ifalia e fide and was appointed to the recently

created International Centre for Corporate Studies. Also in attendance at the meeting

were Meyer, Fonjallez and Loutkie who had also been at Montreux.'® This group
represented a cleavage in those attending the Montreux Conference. Italia e fide was
trying to maintain a strong Catholic influence over the developing corporatist
movement in the hope of stifling the more statist element in favour of a more Catholic
approach in line with the Papal social encyclicals.'*

The Committee of Seven met for the first time in Paris on 30" January 1935, in

order to discuss the issue of the position of labour in the corporate system. O’Duffy’s

colleagues on the Secretariat were: Eugene Coselschi (Italy), Dr F. Clausen
(Denmark), Marcel Bocard (France), M. Mercouris (Greece), Colonel A. Fonjallos
(Switzerland), and Vidkun Quisling of Norway. The Secretariat discussed recent
[talian legislation, which had reduced the working week to 40 hours, without reducing
wages, as a possible way of reducing unemployment. The Secretariat also called for
Increased contacts at an international level, and for the creation of a Congress of
Workers, as class collaboration was seen as the solution to the economic crisis.'® The

four main resolutions passed by the meeting were:

::z Irish Press, 29" December 1934, ‘General O’ Duffy: His Meeting with // Duce.’
lmM . Ledeen, Universal Fascism p.123.
Leo XIII's De Rerum Novarum,(1891) and Pius XI1’s Quadragessimo Anno (1931). The encyclicals

offered a critique of capitalist society and the need to deal with social issues, workers’ rights and
iglployers’ responsibilities to avoid class warfare
The Blueshirt, 9" February 1935.
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Corporatist movements must work above all “...for peace, understanding and
mutual goodwill amongst peoples, so that, by a reform of both existing
outlooks and institutions, European unity might be attained...The Committee
therefore decides to undertake a programme of work and propaganda to
achieve, by any possible means, this European unity.

“ The Committee urges youth to ...fight every sort of materialism, against
every form of Capitalist egoism, against paganism in all its manifestations, to
restore spiritual values, to keep alight the light of faith, the essence of nobility
in life, the holiness of sacrifice- up onward, to protect all the virtues by which
the human race is elevated.

“The Committee recommends all to consider a 40 hour week to lessen
unemployment as Mussolini has done in Italy.

“The Committee, pledging itself to work for the oral and political
organization of European life, affirms the supreme value of the spiritual life
and the intellectual and rational liberty of the individual. It wishes to bring
about harmony, not standardization, and it recognizes all currents of life and
thought except that which annihilates spiritual individuality, and seeks to
submerge the most sacred traditions of peoples and nations in an international

materialism.”' %

The final, meeting of the Secretariat took place on 29™ March 1935 in

Amsterdam. One resolution called for all groups to work for peace and added:

“We condemn all materialist pretensions to dominance by any race over other

w107

raccs.

"% The Blueshirt, 1* March 1935, ‘Corporative Committee of Seven.’

97 1bid.
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The following day, O’Duffy, along with his colleagues Quisling, Bucard and

Coselschi, attended a rally of Dutch Blackshirts, addressed by their leader Anton

Mussert. At the rally, the crowd of fascists enthusiastically greeted O’Duffy with a

prolonged outburst of applause, after which he signed autographs.'®

CAUR did not last long once Count Ciano, the Italian Foreign Minister, had
received a damning report that included a scathing denunciation of the delegates.
They were portrayed in the report as men of little consequence who were trying to
elicit funds from the Italian Government for their own diversion and

advancement.'”” O’Duffy’s involvement with CAUR had put him firmly in the

fascist camp and raised his international profile. In spite of the lack of influence of
the conferences, they inflated O’Dufiy’s ego even more. He could now claim to
be a player on the international political scene, a statesman in the making.
O’Duffy’s enthusiasm was fuelled by the conferences and he went ahead with the
creation of a new political party to promote an idea, fascism, whose time, he
believed, had come. He was creating his own fascist party on the model of
continental examples. Over half of the European fascist parties were formed after
1933, including those of Norway, the Netherlands and Ireland.

O’Duffy was once again in Italy in September 1935, following a visit to Geneva.
He returned to Ireland via Germany, where he visited a number of camps for
young people and camps for Stormtroopers. On his return from Germany, he

spoke to the press. He admitted that though he did not entirely approve of Hitler’s

policies, he believed that the media had misrepresented the German dictator.''®

In spite of the geographical proximity, shared language, and recent common

history, there appears to have been no contact between O’Duffy and Oswald

"% 1bid.
'’M. Ledeen, Universal Fascism pp. 124-6.
110 5. th

lrish Press, 19" September 1935.
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Mosley. The Republican journal, An Phoblacht hinted at Blueshirt links with
Mosley in late 1934, without going 1nto any detail.'"! In January 1934, the same
journal had claimed that its London correspondent had learned of an alliance
between Mosley and the Blueshirts, and that General Hickie' '2 had gone to
England to secure fascist funds for the Blueshirts.'" It quoted an article in
Mosley’s Fascist Week which prophesied that there would soon be fascist
governments in London, Belfast and Dublin.!'* A4n Phoblacht had also noted that
the Norwegian fascist, Terje Ballsrud, visited O’Dufly after meeting with Mosley,
hinting at some sort of connection. Undoubtedly, O’Dufty would have come into
contact with Mosley at the Zurich Conference which they both attended 1n
December 1934, but Mosley did not attend the CAUR conterence at Montreux. It
would appear that the Irish and British fascists kept to themselves. There i1s no
record of joint meetings or cooperation. In spite of Mosley’s earlier sympathy for
the cause of Irish nationalism, and his opposition to the heavy-handed approach of
the Black and Tans'" after the Easter Rising in 1916, he was an avowed
imperialist who wanted to maintain Ireland’s dominion status. By 1935, O’Dufty
had moved to an extreme republican position and therefore he was 1n direct
opposition to the imperialist policies of Mosley who saw a continued role for
Ireland within the British Empire.
As late as May 1937, the Garda were still reporting links between NCP
members and international fascism. A Garda report on Kevin Patton of Raglona,

Mullingar described him as a member of the NCP and an “ardent admirer of

" 4n Phoblacht, 25™ August 1934, ‘O’Duffy Wants to Wade in Blood.’
'12 Hickie was a former general in the Free State Army.

''> 4n Phoblacht, 27" January 1934, *Anglo-Fascist Alliance.’
'"* The Fascist Week, 29" December 1933, ‘The Blueshirt Case.’
' The Black and Tans were a force recruited by the British to assist the Royal Irish Constabulary in

dealing with the 1RA. The Oxford Companion to Irish History (1998), p. 47.
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General O’Duffy.”''® The Garda wrote this report in response to an article
appearing in a Belgian journal, La Griffe, which contained an appeal to students
from an organization called Union Mondial d’Ordre Nouveau. The police reported
that Kevin Patton, who had been a local secretary for the NCP, was the
movement’s promoter in Ireland.''’ He did not appear to have any success in
recruiting for the organization. The Union’s political philosophy can be gauged
from the avowed aims of the movement:

“...pour lutter contre le marxisme et favoriser l’avenement d’'un monde nouveau

base sur la foi, la patrie, la famille et la profession.” "

SEEKING ALLIES

In a surprise move in the spring of 1935, O’Duffy began to make overtures to

his erstwhile enemies, the IRA. His proposal to make the 1916 Easter

119

Proclamation’ '~ the basis of his party’s national policy, coupled with his desire to

unite nationalists under a common banner, may have inspired him to seek allies
amongst the IRA. Recently, the IRA had split, losing many of its left-wing
activists to the Republican Congress, a party which aimed to create a mass base to
campaign for a socialist republic in Ireland.'*® The nationalist philosophy of both
the IRA and the O’Duffy Blueshirts provided a common policy element. Both

organizations found themselves the victims of government repression and

coercion. O’Dufty hoped to use this as a means to bind the two forces. A police

'1¢ Garda Metropolitan Division Police Report on Kevin Patton, 6™ May 1937, Jus8/470, NAL.

:: Police Report from J.P. Walsh, 29 May 1937, Department of External Affairs , Jus8/470, NAL.
Ibid.

"' The declaration of Irish independence and the creation of an Irish republic proclaimed by the Irish

revolutionary, Patrick Pearse, on the steps of the Dublin General Post Office on Easter Monday, 24"

m)ril, 1916.

Republican Congress had been created in part as a response to the perceived threat from the
Blueshirts. It was short-lived, dissolving itself in 19335.
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report described the initiative as an effort “to bring members of the new and old

IRA and opponents of the Government into the Organization.”'*' Garda
surveillance discovered that O’Dully approached, via intermediaries,'** Miss A.
Nevin of Cashel, a long-standing supporter of the IRA. O’Duffy was under the
impression that she had considerable influence in the local republican movement.

His intention was to win her support for his new initiative, but since she refused to

123

meet with him, “° the initiative failed to get off the ground.

O’Duffy, now advocating his own brand of extreme republican nationalism,
found himself alienated from the constitutionalists of Fine Gael and the militarist

IRA. O’Duffy’s attempt to seek an alliance with the anti-democratic forces of
republican extremists that he had spent years opposing never had any real chance
of success. In the light of the IRA’s and Republican Congress’s intense physical
and vocal opposition to Blueshirtism in all its manifestations, O’Dufly’s political
naivety was never more in evidence than in this failed initiative.

In the light of his aggressive statements on the question of partition prior to his
resignation from Fine Gael, it is also surprising to find O’Duffy proposing another
co-operative initiative, this time with Job Stott’s'** Ulster Fascists.'* A meeting
had been held at Wynn’s Hotel in Dublin on19th February 1935 in order to set up

a non-political organization to promote the voluntary reunification of Ireland

'?! Garda Report, J.J. Moore, Cahir, 1* May 1935, Proposed Change in the Constitution of the League
of Youth, D/Jus8/296, NAl.

122 These intermediaries were local Blueshirts, Dr John Hennessey of Golden and Patrick Nolan of
Cashel. Nolan was the Vice-Director of Cashel District Division (O’ Duffy Section).

'2> Report of the Superintendent of Cahir Garda to Chief Superintendent at Thurles, 1* May 1935,
D/Jus8/296, NAl.

'* Job Stott was an ex-RUC B-Special and director of the Ulster Centre of Fascist Studies (F.
McGarry, Irish Politics and the Spanish Civil War p. 21.)

'>> Founded in the autumn of 1933, the Ulster Fascists were closely linked to the BUF. F. McGarry,
lrish Politics and the Spanish Civil War pp. 20-21.
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through the cultivation of constructive cross-border relations.'*® The organization
was named ‘The 32 Club,’ a title symbolizing a united Ireland. This was not the

first time that the idea had been aired. The Royal Irish Constabulary in the North

had been monitoring an organization by that name, whose principle organizer was
Captain The O’Donovan, since the end of 1934.'%

The Wynn’s Hotel meeting passed the following resolutions:
“1.That the meeting forms itself into a club having for its aim the reunion of

[reland.
2. That it be called ‘The 32 Club’ to symbolize the thirty-two counties of Ireland.

3. That it be the primary object of the club to cultivate through social, cultural,
business and other contacts, friendly relations between Irishmen living North and
South of the border.

4. That membership be given to all Irish men and women, irrespective of religious

or political affiliations, who accept the object and rules of the Club.”'%*

The organizer of each branch would wear a silver badge and would be known as
a ‘Pioneer’- a possible tribute to O’Duffy’s admiration for the Pioneer Total
Abstinence Association.'” Fearghal McGarry states that:

“...the most curious detail was the instruction that at each meeting ‘a chair
shall be left vacant in a prominent position reserved for the personage who is to

give embodiment to the idea of National unity.’ This ‘personage’ was not

'* F. McGarry, ‘General O’Duffy, the National Corporate Party and the Irish Brigade,’ in Ed. J.
Augusteijn, freland in the 1930s (Dublin, 1999).

'"*" Ministry of Home Affairs Minute Sheet, 12" June 1935-The Blueshirts, HA/32/1/615, PRONI.
'* The Blueshirt, 1* May 1935, ‘Corporative Commission Meeting,’

' F. McGarry, ‘General O’Duffy, the National Corporate Party, and the Irish Brigade,’ in Ed. J.
Augusteijn,, lreland in the 1930s p. 120.
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identified but it seems likely that O’Duffy’s ambitions had now risen from
dictatorial to monarchical.”'*

There is a curious precedent set by D’ Annunzio during his Fiume experiment. In

his Carnaro Charter, which D’ Annunzio drafted with De Ambris and which laid
down the organization of a corporate order in the city republic of Fiume, was the
declaration that the tenth corporation was to be left empty, “...dedicated to the
unknown genius, to the appearance of the Very New Man (Nuovissimo Homo), to
the ideal transfiguration of human industry and time.”"”'

A meeting was arranged in Belfast at the Grand Hotel, on the 10" April 1935,

presided over by Captain The O’Donovan,"”* with the purpose of setting up a
branch of the 32 Club in the North, effecting an alliance between the Blueshirts
and the Ulster Fascists. The motion to set up the branch, proposed by a Blueshirt
named McKeaveney, and seconded by Job Stott of the Ulster Fascists, was, for
some unknown reason, defeated by the counter-proposal of two Blueshirts,
Brendan Kielty and Jack Hewitt. Three delegates abstained from voting. The final
vote was four to three against setting up a branch in the North."? The Northern
[reland Special Branch report stated:

“From what can be ascertained, the meeting resolved itself into a huge farce, no
one apparently taking the proceedings very seriously. McKeaveney is described as
a ‘mental case’ and The O’Donovan may be described as falling within the same

category. No attempts have been made to hold further meetings.”'”

130 11
Ibid.
P! Quoted in Griffin, The Nature of Fascism p. 65.
*2 *The’ being a title, not his Christian name.
'3 F. McGarry, Irish Politics and the Spanish Civil War p. 21.

"** Inspector General’s Office, RUC, to Secretary, Minister of Home Affairs, 12" June 1935, HA
32/1/615, PRONL.
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The list of the objectives of the Club had changed in a significant way by the
time they reached the Belfast meeting, which led the RUC to declare that the
Club’s principal aim was “apparently the fusion of North and South under an
independent monarchy.”"?” The following item had been added by the Blueshirts
to the Club’s aims:

“Realizing that the effect of the present political alignments i1s to emphasize
these divisions and that no friendly or enduring basis can be found for these
contacts unless there 1s common ground between them, the original members are
of the opinion that this common ground can best be provided by a movement
aiming at the restitution of an independent Irish Monarchy linked by dynastic ties
to the British Commonwealth of Nations.

“They believe that an independent monarchy in this country would not only
solve our political and religious differences but would, from the National aspect,
raise our social and political status as people by giving a new emphasis to our
millennial culture and historical traditions. Monarchy alone, as linked to Gaelic
Ireland and evolved in modern Britain, can satisfy the dual aspirations of
humanity for an arbitral paternal authority and democratic social forms.

“The original members hold that, as a mother country of the Commonwealth of
Nations, Ireland’s station should be equal in every respect to that of Great Britain-
the other mother country. They believe, moreover, that the <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>